Altice International S.à r.l.



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FOR THE NINE-MONTH PERIOD ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2021

Table of contents

1	Basis of preparation	2
2	Principal activities of the Group	
3	Strategy and performance	8
4	Group financial review	9
5	Revenue	14
6	Adjusted EBITDA	16
7	Operating profit of the Group	17
8	Result for the Group - Items below operating expenses	18
9	Capital expenditures	20
10	Liquidity, capital resources and cash flow	21
11	Key operating measures	23
12	Other disclosures	23
13	Glossary	24

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The management discussion and analysis for each of the periods presented is based on the financial information derived from the unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements as of and for the three and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2021.

Please refer to the Glossary in section 13 for a definition of the key financial terms discussed and analysed in this document.

Disclaimers:

The following discussion and analysis is intended to assist in providing an understanding of the Group's financial condition, changes in financial condition and results of operations and should be read together with the unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements as of and for the three and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2021, including the accompanying notes. Some of the information in this discussion and analysis includes forward looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties.

Unless the context otherwise requires, when used herein, the terms "we," "our," the "Company," the "Group," and "us" refer to the business constituting the Group as of September 30, 2021, even though we may not have owned such business for the entire duration of the periods presented.

The Group applies International Financial Reporting Standards as endorsed in the EU ("IFRS"). Adjusted EBITDA, and measures derived therefrom, are not defined in IFRS and are "non-IFRS measures". Management believes Adjusted EBITDA is useful to readers of the historical consolidated financial information as it provides a measure of operating results excluding certain items that we believe are either outside of our recurring operating activities, or items that are non-cash. Excluding such items enables trends in our operating results and cash flow generation to be more easily observable. We use the non-IFRS measures internally to manage and assess the results of our operations, make decisions with respect to investments and allocation of resources, and assess the performance of management personnel. Such performance measures are also the de facto metrics used by investors and other members of the financial community to value other companies operating in our industry, and thus are a basis for comparability between us and our peers. Further, Adjusted EBITDA, working capital and total capital expenditures, as used herein, are not necessarily comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies. Furthermore, Adjusted EBITDA, working capital and total capital expenditures have limitations as analytical tools and should not be considered in isolation from, or as an alternative to, net income or loss, operating profit, cash flow or other combined income or cash flow data prepared in accordance with IFRS.

2. PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES OF THE GROUP

2.1. Overview of the Group's business

Altice International S.à r.l. (the "Company") is a private limited liability company ("société à responsabilité limitée") incorporated in Luxembourg, headquartered at 5, rue Eugène Ruppert, L-2453 Luxembourg, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg. The Company is the parent company of a consolidated group (the "Group").

The Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Altice Luxembourg S.A. ("Altice Luxembourg"). The controlling shareholder of Altice Luxembourg is Next Alt S.à r.l., which is itself controlled by Mr. Patrick Drahi. As of September 30, 2021, Next Alt S.à r.l. indirectly held 92.76% of the share capital of the Company.

The Group is a multinational group operating across two sectors: (i) telecom (broadband and mobile communications) and (ii) content and media. The Group operates in Portugal, Israel and the Dominican Republic. The Group also has a global presence through its technology business Teads. The Group had expanded internationally in previous years through several acquisitions of telecommunications businesses, including MEO in Western Europe; HOT in Israel, and Orange Dominicana and Tricom in the Dominican Republic. The Group's acquisition strategy has allowed it to target cable, FTTH or mobile operators with what it believes to be high-quality networks in markets the Group finds attractive from an economic, competitive and regulatory perspective. Furthermore, the Group is focused on growing

its businesses by focusing on cost optimization, increasing economies of scale and operational synergies and improving quality of its network and services.

As part of its innovative strategy, the Group is focusing on investment in its proprietary best-in-class infrastructure, both in fibre and mobile, commensurate with the Group's position as a number one or number two operator in each market. The Group continues to improve its competitiveness in fixed-mobile convergence and maintains its focus on improving customer experience, reflected in a sustained commercial momentum achieved in 2019 and continued in the years 2020 and 2021.

Teads, a leading, cloud-based, end-to-end technology platform that enables programmatic digital advertising, was acquired in 2017. Teads connects advertisers and their agencies to high-quality ad inventory at scale through Teads publisher partners that span 1.9 billion unique monthly users as of September 2021.

2.2. Products, services and brands

Through its various Group companies, the Group provides fixed services, mobile telephony services and media and advertising services to residential and business customers in all the geographies in which it operates. In addition, the Group offers a variety of wholesale and other services across its footprint. The Group also invests in specific content to supplement and enrich the services the Group provides.

The Group's fixed services (high-quality pay-TV, broadband Internet and fixed-line telephony) are mainly provided over its proprietary fibre- and cable-based network infrastructure which are either FTTH, FTTB, DOCSIS 3.1 or DOCSIS 3.0 enabled, offering download speeds of between 200 Mbps and 10 Gbps depending on geography. On a blended basis, as of September 30, 2021, the Group's high-speed broadband services passed 8.9 million fibre/cable homes, with 2.4 million fibre/cable unique customers. The Group offers xDSL/DSL/DTH services, with 3.0 million residential fixed unique customers as of September 30, 2021. The Group also offers mobile services in the geographies in which it operates, through 2G, 3G, 4G Long-Term-Evolution ("LTE") technology (with 1 Gbps achieved in the second quarter of 2019) and 5G to its HOT customers in Israel. On a blended basis, as of September 30, 2021, the Group had 10.4 million residential mobile subscribers (of which 5.1 million were postpaid subscribers).

The Group is focused on the convergence of fixed and mobile services by cross-selling and up-selling its offerings to further increase its multi-play penetration. The Group's fibre and mobile technologies enable it to offer premium digital services, attractive interactive features (e.g., 'MEO Go!' offering in Portugal) and local content (e.g., through its 'HOT 3' channel in Israel) to its customers. The Group has leveraged its network advantage to drive its multi-play strategy and offer an attractive combination of content, speed and functionality. The Group offers to its residential customers bundled double- and triple-play fixed services, which comprises paying for a combination of TV, broadband Internet access and fixed-line telephony services together with customer premise equipment at what the Group believes are attractive prices. The Group believes the demand for its multi-play packages is primarily driven by the inherent quality of the various products included within them, which the Group believes are among the best available in the markets in which it operates. Although the Group is convinced its products offer the best value for money and cost-savings for customers when purchased as part of multi-play packages, the Group also offers most of these services on a stand-alone basis in most of its geographies. In some markets, such as Portugal, the Group offers quad-play bundles including both fixed and mobile services.

The Group is focused on strategically developing content to complement its fixed and mobile services with high-quality content offerings on its own networks and to external partners. The Group continues to broadcast and distribute various sports events in selected countries, including the Portuguese Liga in Portugal.

Teads operates a leading, cloud-based, end-to-end technology platform that enables programmatic digital advertising for a global, curated ecosystem of quality advertisers and their agencies and quality publishers. As an end-to-end solution, Teads' platform consists of buy-side, sell-side, creative, data and AI optimization modules.

The Group markets its products and services under multiple brands, including but not limited to the following brands: 'HOT' in Israel; 'MEO' and 'MOCHE' in Portugal; 'Altice' in the Dominican Republic, and, in each case, several associated trademarks.

2.3. Activities

The Group tracks the performance of its business by geography and further analyses its revenue by activity. The Group has identified the following activities: residential services, business services and media (targeted advertising).

2.3.1. Residential services

2.3.1.1. Fixed residential services

The Group offers a variety of fixed residential services, primarily as part of multi-play packages, with available offerings depending on the bandwidth capacity of its cable and fibre networks in a particular geography, which consist of FTTH, hybrid fibre coaxial ("HFC") and copper line ("xDSL").

The Group has a high-quality fibre- and cable-based network infrastructure across the geographies in which it operates. The Group has already rolled-out and secured plugs in FTTH in Portugal and will enable an acceleration in fibre rollout in Israel through the IBC transaction (please see section 4.2.1.1). The Group's fixed services (high-quality pay-TV, broadband Internet and fixed-line telephony) are mainly provided over its proprietary fibre- and cable-based network infrastructure which are either FTTH, FTTB, DOCSIS 3.1 or DOCSIS 3.0 enabled.

2.3.1.2. Broadband Internet access and fixed-line telephony

The Group provides broadband Internet access and fixed-line telephony services across its fibre (and in certain areas xDSL) and cable footprint. Large portions of its networks that are FTTH-enabled or DOCSIS 3.1 enabled can offer download speeds of up to 10 Gbps with limited network and customer premise equipment upgrades given the existing technological capability of its networks. This technological capability can be realized with relatively low levels of capital expenditure and will enable it to better meet the needs of its residential customers who demand higher download speeds. Across Portugal, the Group is upgrading its networks for next-generation FTTH technology which will deliver more download speeds in the mid-term as well as reducing operating costs of running and maintaining its networks and services. As of September 30, 2021, the Group provides broadband Internet to 3.0 million residential fixed customers across its geographies.

The Group's fixed-line telephony services are based on either PacketCable or Voice-over-Internet-Protocol ("VoIP") technologies. The Group offers a wide range of telephony packages and its triple-play offers tend to include flat-rate telephony packages with a significant number of minutes of use included in the price. The Group provides national and international connectivity to its customers either through its own interconnection capabilities or through its partners. The Group continues to phase out stand-alone telephony packages as its strategy is to offer fixed-line telephony as an add-on product in its multi-play packages.

In its fixed residential business, the Group believes advanced customer premise equipment is playing an increasingly crucial role as it enhances customer experience by facilitating access to a wide range of user-friendly features, offers a reliable channel for selling add-on and on-demand services, allows for multi-screen television viewing and broadband Internet usage by multiple parties. Furthermore, when set-top boxes, modems and other customer premise equipment are combined in one box, it allows cable operators to significantly reduce customer service expenses.

2.3.1.3. Pay TV

The Group is focused on strategically developing content to complement its fixed and mobile services with exclusive or high-quality content offerings. The Group produces and broadcasts a diverse range of content including live broadcasts of sports events and other sports- and lifestyle-related programs as well as the sports programming for which the Group has acquired broadcasting rights, including the Portuguese Liga in Portugal.

Terrestrial TV channels

Across its geographies, the Group offers digital television services which include basic and premium programming, and, in most markets, incremental product and service offerings such as Video on Demand ("VoD"), and, in some cases, exclusive content. The Group's pay-TV offerings include content and channels purchased from a variety of local and foreign producers and the Group continues to focus on broadcasting high-quality content over all of its networks as well as producing its own original content.

2.3.1.4. Mobile residential services

The Group owns and operates mobile infrastructure in all of its geographies. Depending on geography and network technology deployed, the Group offers 2G, 3G, 4G, 4G-LTE and/or 5G services in each market in which it operates, on a variety of plans, from 'no frills' offers with no commitment or handset, to premium mobile telephony offers with varying voice and data limits, if any, at attractive prices. In Israel, the 5G spectrum auction has been concluded during the third quarter of 2020 and HOT has been awarded a license to operate the new network. We launched 5G services in Israel in the first quarter of 2021. Please refer to section 12.3.3 for the 5G spectrum auction in the Dominican Republic and 12.3.4 for the 5G spectrum auction in Portugal.

During 2020, the mobile residential services segment was impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. The closure of physical borders and the drop of international traffic led to a strong decline in roaming out from our customers, as well as roaming in. As a result of the evolution of the COVID-19 pandemic and government measures, this activity remained impacted in 2021.

As of September 30, 2021, the Group offered mobile services to 10.4 million residential customers on a blended basis, across the geographies where it is active. In Israel, due to regulations, earlier the Group offered its mobile services either on a stand-alone basis or in a bundle with ISP or international call services. According to a regulatory amendment as of February 2021, the Group is entitled to include its mobile services in its other multi-services packages, subject to the approval of the Ministry of Communications for such packages.

2.3.2. Business services

2.3.2.1. Fixed business services

The Group offers focused fixed business services to large, medium, small and very small business customers in Portugal and the Dominican Republic. In Israel, the Group's business services primarily consist of enhanced versions of the Group's residential products, which are adapted to meet the needs of its business customers.

2.3.2.2. Mobile business services

The Group offers focused mobile business services to large, medium, small and very small business customers in all its geographies. The Group's mobile business services products often include professional telephony services (such as business directory services, fleet management customer areas, usage alerts and financial management solutions) with devices chosen to respond to the needs of professionals and 24-hour on-site exchange service.

2.3.2.3. Wholesale services

The Group offers wholesale services across its geographies, including interconnection services to other operators, and sells wholesale fibre, cable and xDSL services as well as wholesale mobile services to other telecommunications operators who resell such services under their own brands.

In addition, the Group offers original channels, which include premium sport rights, exclusive or original films and series, to other telecommunications operators or third parties, therefore becoming a wholesale player in both telecom infrastructure and content.

2.3.2.4. *R&D* services

The Group has implemented the 'Altice Labs' initiative, which is the Group's state-of-the-art research and development centre that aims to centralize and streamline innovative technological solutions development for the entire Group ("Altice Labs").

2.3.2.5. Other services

The Group offers several other services, depending on geography, such as bulk services to housing associations and multiple-dwelling unit managers, cloud storage such as on-demand IaaS services, computer security services and storage and backup solutions. In various jurisdictions in which the Group operates, it also generates revenue from selling advertising time to national, regional and local customers.

2.3.3. Media

Targeted advertising (Teads)

Founded in 2011, Teads operates a leading, cloud-based, end-to-end technology platform that enables programmatic digital advertising for a global, curated ecosystem of quality advertisers and their agencies and quality publishers. As an end-to-end solution, Teads' platform consists of buy-side, sell-side, creative, data and AI optimization modules. Teads has built deep partnerships with both the demand and supply sides of digital advertising. For advertisers and their agencies, Teads' platform offers a single access point to buy the inventory of many of the world's best publishers. Through exclusive partnerships with these premium publishers, Teads enables customers to reach 1.9 billion unique monthly users as of September 2021, while improving the efficiency, quality and cost of digital ad transactions. For about 3,100 publishers, Teads is a trusted monetization partner, providing the technology required to monetize their most valuable ad inventory programmatically. By connecting both sides through the Teads Global Media Platform, Teads solves the digital programmatic advertising industry's most significant problems related to value chain fragmentation, inefficient digital advertising pricing and quality and scale of inventory.

Teads' innovative and comprehensive set of products have been trusted by publishers on the Open Web for almost a decade. In 2012, Teads pioneered an industry-defining video advertising format known as outstream, which is embedded in-article, specifically in between two paragraphs of editorial text. This invention immediately solved one of the biggest problems in digital advertising related to the lack of quality video inventory. Teads' platform is also capable of delivering display ads, which are the preferred advertising format for performance-oriented campaigns, as well as other web and app formats.

Teads offers advertisers and their agencies access to high-quality inventory at scale, solving a major problem for Teads customers. Advertisers and their agencies can work directly with Teads through their self-serve buying interface, Teads Ad Manager, or through third-party demand side platforms ("DSPs"). Regardless of how or where advertisers transact, they have access to quality inventory sources on behalf of Teads publisher partners. Teads Ad Manager has the advantage of leveraging Teads' machine learning prediction models, which are focused specifically on Teads publisher partners and in-article placements. Teads' predictive machine learning algorithms process large volumes of data based on thousands of campaigns to deliver superior outcomes for customers. As a result, Teads believes they can offer significant cost efficiencies and greater return on investment ("ROI") to agencies and advertisers who access Teads publisher partners' inventory directly through Teads Ad Manager. On average in 2020, Teads Ad Manager delivered 24% lower cost per thousand impressions ("CPMs"), higher results on customers' key performance indicators ("KPIs") (including more than doubling the click-through rate and higher completion rate and viewability), and 100% more scale compared to DSPs.

Teads enables publishers to monetize their digital advertising inventory through Teads for Publishers platform, which provides them with direct sale capabilities and is directly connected to Teads proprietary buy-side interface, Teads Ad Manager. For the year ended December 31, 2020, the number of the top 500 publishers retained from the prior period was approximately 99%. Teads operates exclusive partnerships with over 80% of publishers for their in-article video inventory. Teads' longstanding publisher partnerships are aggregated into a highly curated version of the Open Web that includes many of the world's leading publishers like The BBC, ESPN, Meredith, The Guardian, Bloomberg, The Washington Post, Vogue, L'Equipe, El Mundo, Der Spiegel, South China Morning Post and El Universal.

During the first half year of 2021, the Company intended to pursue an initial public offering ("IPO") of Teads. On July 29, 2021, the Company announced that Teads has postponed plans for the IPO due to unsatisfactory equity market conditions as compared to the growth prospects of Teads.

2.4. Marketing and sales

The Group's marketing divisions use a combination of individual and segmented promotions and general brand marketing to attract and retain customers. It markets its business services to institutional customers and businesses such as large corporates, governmental and administrative agencies, small- and medium-sized businesses, nursing homes, hospitals and hotels. The Group's primary marketing channels are media advertising including commercial television, telemarketing, e-marketing, door-to-door marketing, billboards, newspaper advertising and targeted mail solicitation. The Group's marketing strategy is based on increasing the penetration of multi-play services within its subscriber base, increasing distribution of television-based value-added services and ensuring a high level of customer

satisfaction in order to maintain a low churn rate. The Group's marketing and sales efforts are always geared towards demonstrating the high-quality and speed of its networks.

The Group uses a broad range of distribution channels to sell its products and services throughout its operations, including retail outlets owned and run by the Group, retail outlets owned and run by third parties, dedicated sales booths, counters and other types of shops, door-to-door sales agents, inbound and outbound telesales and its websites.

2.5. Customers

2.5.1. Customer contracts and billing

The Group typically enters into standard form contracts with its residential customers. The Group reviews the standard rates of its services on an on-going basis. In certain geographies, in addition to the monthly fees the Group charges, customers generally pay an installation fee upon connection or re-connection to the Group's fibre/cable network. The terms and conditions of the Group's contracts, including duration, termination rights, the ability to charge early exit fees, and the ability to increase prices during the life of the contract, differ across the Group's operations primarily due to the different regulatory regimes it is subject to in each of the jurisdictions in which it operates.

The Group monitors payments and the debt collection process internally. The Group performs credit evaluation of its residential and business customers and undertakes a wide range of bad debt management activities to control its bad debt levels, including direct collections executed by its employees, direct collections executed in co-operation with third party collection agencies, and pursuit of legal remedies in certain cases.

2.5.2. Customer service

The Group's customer service strategy is to increase customer satisfaction and decrease churn with high product quality. Building on 2018 and 2019 achievements, further improved customer service resulted in the reduction of churn within the Group's key geographies, which continued in 2020 and 2021. The Group has continued to improve its customers' experience, including enhanced customer relationship management systems, which have allowed the Group to better manage new customers, identify customers at risk of churning, handle complex customer issues, offer special retention offers to potential churners and repayment plans to insolvent customers. The Group aimed to integrate operations and centralize functions in order to optimize processes and to correlate sales incentives to churn, net promoter score ("NPS") and average revenue per user ("ARPU") as opposed to more traditional criteria of new sales, in order to refocus the organization away from churn retention to churn prevention. The Group has remained disciplined and focused on further improving customer service in all markets. This has resulted in churn reduction across mobile and fixed products between 2018 and 2021.

2.6. Competition

In each of the geographies and industries in which the Group operates, the Group faces significant competition and competitive pressures. Certain markets, such as Portugal, are mature markets, with a limited number of new customers entering the market. Moreover, the Group's products and services are subject to increasing competition from alternative new technologies or improvements in existing technologies.

With respect to its residential activities, the Group faces competition from telephone companies and other providers of DSL, VDSL2 and fibre network connections. With respect to pay TV services, the Group is faced with growing competition from alternative methods for broadcasting television services other than through traditional cable networks. For example, online content aggregators which broadcast OTT programs on a broadband network, such as internet competitors Amazon, Apple, Google, Disney+ and Netflix, are expected to grow stronger in the future. Connected or 'smart' TVs facilitate the use of these services. With respect to the fixed-line and mobile telephony markets, the Group has experienced a shift from fixed-line telephony to mobile telephony and faces intensive competition from established telephone companies, mobile virtual network operators ("MVNOs") and providers of new technologies such as VoIP.

In the competitive B2B data services market, price pressure has been strong. Conversely, the use of data transmission services has significantly increased. The Group is currently facing competition from software providers and other IT providers of data and network solutions, and the line between them and the suppliers of data infrastructure and

solutions, like the Group, has become increasingly blurred. Partnerships between IT providers and infrastructure providers are becoming more and more common and are an additional source of competition but also an opportunity for growth. Being able to face the competition efficiently depends in part on the density of the network, and certain of the Group's competitors in the markets in which it operates have a broader and denser network. In recent years, the B2B market has experienced a structural change marked by a move from traditional switched voice services to VoIP services.

The following is an overview of the competitive landscape in certain key geographies in which the Group operates:

Portugal: In the broadband and mobile market, the Group faces competition from Vodafone, NOS and Nowo, the latter operating through a MVNO with MEO. In the fixed telephony market, the Group faces an erosion of market share of both access lines and outgoing domestic and international traffic due to the trend towards the use of mobile services instead of fixed telephone services. Competition in the fixed telephony market is intensified by mobile operators such as NOS and Vodafone who can bypass MEO's international wireline network by interconnecting directly with fixed-line and mobile networks either in its domestic network or abroad. Through FastFiber, the Portuguese operation continues expanding its proprietary fixed fibre infrastructure and rollout of FTTH, competing with Vodafone and NOS. In the business services market, competitors such as Vodafone and NOS are taking market share from MEO in traditional connectivity services, partly offset by MEO introducing new ICT services to its business customers.

Israel: In the broadband market, the Group competes primarily with Bezeq, which provides high speed broadband Internet access over DSL and holds the highest market share in broadband Internet infrastructure access in Israel. In the pay-TV market, the Group's main competitor is D.B.S. Satellite Services (1998) Ltd, a subsidiary of Bezeq, which provides satellite technology-based television services under the brand "YES". Bezeq is also the Group's main competitor in the fixed-line telephony market as the largest provider of fixed-line telephony services. Cellcom and Partner also provide broadcasting offers to OTT subscribers.

HOT Mobile competes with several principal mobile network operators, including Cellcom (including Golan Telecom), Partner, Pelephone and MVNOs. The telecom market in Israel has changed significantly in recent years to become more fragmented, including 8 players in the mobile market, underlying an increase of competition. During 2020 there was a very high level of promotions in the market. This included significant competition within the TV "skinny bundle" segment with aggressively priced residential offers. HOT remains a premium brand in the market, supported by its superior fixed network infrastructure, premium content packages, and superior customer service.

Dominican Republic: The Group's key competitors in the fixed market are Claro (America Movil) and to a lesser extent, local players such as Viva and Aster. Altice Dominicana has approximately 33% market share in mobile and 27% in fixed Internet. In the mobile market, Altice Dominicana mainly competes with Claro (with which it shares a comparable spectrum range and 4G-LTE population coverage), and with Viva in the low-end segment. Altice Dominicana also competes with niche actors Wind and Sky. In the pay-TV segment, the market is still deeply fragmented with several regional cable operators.

The Dominican Republic government is focused on accelerating an economic recovery by focusing on two main pillars: propelling tourism sector as it plays an important role in the GDP of the country and foreign currency generation, as well as increasing employment generation, including through foreign investment.

Finally, after a highly volatile period of the exchange rate between the Euro and the Dominican peso in the months following COVID-19 restrictions (from May 2020 to August 2020), the government implemented controls to stabilize the currency fluctuations and the exchange rate is currently exhibiting a more stable trend.

3. STRATEGY AND PERFORMANCE

3.1. Objectives

The Group's key objective is to improve its operating and financial performance by increasing operational efficiencies of its existing businesses and driving growth through reinvestment in its proprietary infrastructure. Furthermore, the Group aims to deliver to its customers the best quality services and the best content on proprietary state-of-the-art mobile and fixed infrastructure, by investing in best-in-class technology, insourcing its historical suppliers in the area

of technical services and call centres in order to better control quality, and developing a tailor-made approach, based on the analysis of data collected from its customers, in order to service them in an individualized manner, propose them targeted offers, dedicated content and custom-made advertising and provide them with a unique and sophisticated customer experience. The Group aims to create long-term shareholder value through exceptional operating and financial performance, mainly driven by its focus and investments to provide a superior customer experience at lower cost levels.

The Group has contributed to long-term value creation in the past financial years, through multiple factors. The operational and financial turnaround in Portugal was achieved under the leadership of a new local management team put in place in 2018, which is still effective as of the third quarter of 2021. The Group has delivered sustained investment at an accelerated pace into upgrading its fixed and mobile networks for better quality services to improve the customer experience and drive future growth. In addition, the Group has successfully executed on the monetization of part of the Group companies' infrastructure at attractive valuations in prior years. The Group has deleveraged through a combination of organic and inorganic actions. The Group intends to maintain a strong balance sheet, with the stated leverage target range remaining a strategic focus.

3.2. Strategy of the Group

At the core of the Group's strategy is customer, revenue, profitability and cash flow growth by efficiently running telecom assets, creating underlying organic growth, and as a result, achieving a leverage profile consistent with the stated target leverage range. The Group benefits from a unique asset base which is fully convergent, fibre rich, active across residential consumers and businesses and holds number one or number two positions in each of its markets with nationwide coverage. The reinforced operational focus offers significant value creation potential. Key elements of the Group's growth strategy include:

- building on the operational and financial turnaround in Portugal;
- optimizing the performance in each market with a particular focus on customer services;
- continuing to invest in best-in-class infrastructure commensurate with the Group's market position;
- growing advertising revenues; and
- the potential monetization of part of the Group companies' infrastructure and assets at attractive valuations.

4. GROUP FINANCIAL REVIEW

4.1. General

The following discussion and analysis is intended to assist in providing an understanding of the Group's financial condition, changes in financial condition and results of operations and should be read together with the unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements as of and for the three and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2021, including the accompanying notes.

The below table sets forth the Group's consolidated statement of income for the three and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2021, and September 30, 2020.

Consolidated Statement of Income	Nine months ended	Nine months ended
(€m)	September 30, 2021	September 30, 2020
Revenues	3,153.0	2,956.4
Purchasing and subcontracting costs	(821.1)	(724.6)
Other operating expenses	(638.3)	(635.6)
Staff costs and employee benefits	(410.2)	(349.4)
Depreciation, amortization and impairment	(890.7)	(905.3)
Other (expenses) and income ¹	(375.1)	66.1
Operating profit	17.6	407.6
Interest relative to gross financial debt	(297.2)	(432.1)
Realized and unrealized (losses)/gains on derivative instruments linked to financial debt	153.2	(51.1)
Other financial expenses	(211.6)	(123.0)
Finance income	187.0	119.8
Net result on extinguishment and remeasurement of financial liabilities	(89.5)	439.0
Finance income/(costs), net	(258.1)	(47.4)
Share of gain/(loss) of associates and joint ventures	(4.4)	2.5
Profit/(loss) before income tax	(244.9)	362.7
Income tax benefit /(expense)	14.2	(9.9)
Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations	(230.7)	352.8
Attributable to equity holders of the parent	(254.2)	335.2
Attributable to non-controlling interests	23.5	17.6

Other (expenses) and income for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2021 include mainly the provision for a voluntary employee reduction program for €348.2 million and a provision related to termination payments payable to employees of €23.3 million in Portugal. Other (expenses) and income for the three-month period ended September 30, 2021 include mainly the provision for a voluntary employee reduction program for €12.4 million and a provision related to termination payments payable to employees of €2.8 million in Portugal, please refer to section 4.2.3.1.

The Group has 5 operating segments for which the results of operations of the business will be discussed:

- Portugal: The Group owns Portugal Telecom ("PT Portugal"), the largest telecom operator in Portugal. PT
 Portugal caters to fixed residential, mobile residential and business services clients using the MEO brand, amongst
 others. This segment also includes the Altice Technical Services entities in Portugal.
- Israel: Fixed and mobile services are provided using the HOT telecom, HOT mobile and HOT net brands to residential and business services clients. HOT also produces award winning exclusive content that it distributes using its fixed network, as well as content application called Next and OTT services through Next Plus. This segment also includes the Altice Technical Services entity in Israel.
- **Dominican Republic**: The Group provides fixed residential, mobile residential and business services using the Altice brand. This segment also includes the Altice Technical Services entity in the Dominican Republic.
- Teads: An end-to-end technology platform for digital advertising.
- Others: Corporate entities are reported under "Others".

4.2. Significant events affecting historical results

A summary of the significant events that had a material impact on the unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements as of and for the three and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2021 and September 30, 2020 is given below:

4.2.1. Acquisitions and disposals completed for the nine months ended September 30, 2021

4.2.1.1. IBC acquisition (Israel)

On September 15, 2020, HOT Telecommunications Systems Ltd (HOT) announced that it has taken a minority stake in IBC Israel Broadband (IBC). Post-closing, HOT became an equal partner in the IBC Partnership (that holds 70% of IBC's share capital), together with Cellcom and Israel Infrastructure Fund (IIF) and HOT holds indirectly 23.3% of IBC's share capital, through an investment in the company of €45.4 million, substantially equal to the investment made by each of Cellcom and IIF. There is an agreement between IBC and HOT, under which HOT undertakes to purchase an indefeasible right, or IRU, to use IBC's fibre-optic network. There is also a service agreement between IBC and HOT, under which IBC undertakes to purchase certain services from HOT. The transaction was closed on February 11, 2021 following the regulatory and third-party approvals. Following the closing of the transaction, HOT exercises a significant influence over IBC, that is accounted for under the equity method based on the provisions of IAS 28 *Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures*.

4.2.1.2. The 2021 Portuguese tower transaction

On May 26, 2021, PT Portugal entered into an exclusivity agreement with Cellnex Telecom for the demerger and sale of a business unit consisting of a set of mobile towers, other passive mobile infrastructure and related rights and obligations for an implied enterprise value of approximately ϵ 209 million. The transaction was closed on September 30, 2021, following customary regulatory approvals. Total cash proceeds amounted to ϵ 215.2 million (which include the enterprise value adjusted for positive working capital as of the closing date of ϵ 6.2 million). The total capital gain recorded for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2021 amounted to ϵ 88.5 million.

Following the transaction, PT Portugal and Cellnex Telecom have entered into a Master Service Agreement ("MSA") related to the newly carved-out sites, the main terms of which are similar to the one of the 2018 towers transaction (please refer to note 3.1.9 of the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018). As a consequence of the MSA, the lease liabilities increased for a total amount of €94.1 million. Based on the provisions of IFRS 16 *Leases*, with respect to sale and lease back transactions, no right of use assets related to the MSA was recorded in the statement of financial position as it was recorded in reduction of the capital gain of the transaction.

4.2.1.3. Unisono Group acquisition

On August 6, 2021, the Company through its subsidiary Altice Portugal, signed and closed the acquisition of Unisono Solution Group S.L ("Unisono Group"), which is engaged in the provision of outsourced customer experience management (contact centre and business process service), and consulting and digital transformation services in Spain, Colombia, Chile and the United Kingdom. The total purchase price for the sale and purchase of the shares was €133.2 million, which represents 100% of the voting shares. Unisono Group is directly owned by Intelcia Portugal Inshore S.A., which is 65%-owned by PT Portugal and thus the economic interest of the Group in Unisono Group is 65%.

The values of the assets and liabilities assumed have been determined on a provisional basis as being equivalent to the book values in the accounting records of Unisono Group. Due to the proximity of the date of acquisition to the balance sheet date, the Group is yet to assess the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities. The exercise will be completed within the measurement period as defined by IFRS 3.

Following the preliminary purchase price allocation, the goodwill recognised from business combinations during the nine-month period ended September 30, 2021 was €122.1 million. The amount of goodwill is fully tax deductible.

The revenues and the net profit for the period of Unisono Group from the acquisition date to the reporting date (from August 6, 2021 to September 30, 2021), are \in 24.4 million and \in 0.3 million respectively.

Had the acquisition of Unisono Group been completed on January 1, 2021, the Group would have earned, on a proforma basis, revenues of €122.4 million and net profit for the period of €3.9 million for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2021.

4.2.2. Acquisitions and disposals completed for the nine months ended September 30, 2020

4.2.2.1. Sale of a 25% equity stake in OMTEL

On January 2, 2020, Altice Europe announced the sale of the 25% equity interest held by PT Portugal in Belmont Infra Holding S.A. ("Belmont"), that owns 100% in a tower company OMTEL, to Cellnex Telecom S.A. Total cash proceeds amounted to ϵ 201.0 million. The total capital gain recorded for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2020 amounted to ϵ 97.7 million (please refer to section 7.2.2).

The sale by PT Portugal of its 25% equity interest in OMTEL is part of a larger transaction pursuant to which Cellnex Telecom S.A. acquired 100% of the share capital of OMTEL. In September 2018, at the time of its sale of OMTEL to a consortium including Morgan Stanley Infrastructure Partners and Horizon Equity Partners, PT Portugal had reinvested €108.8 million for a 25% equity interest in OMTEL.

4.2.2.2. Closing of the partnership with Morgan Stanley Infrastructure Partners and the sale of 49.99% interest in FastFiber (formerly known as Altice Portugal FTTH)

On December 12, 2019, PT Portugal entered into an agreement with Morgan Stanley Infrastructure Partners regarding the sale of a 49.99% interest in the Portuguese fibre business to be carved-out into a dedicated wholesale vehicle, FastFiber (formerly known as Altice Portugal FTTH), comprising of the fibre passive infrastructure assets and rights, related contracts and underlying agreements, thereby creating a nationwide fibre wholesaler in Portugal. On April 17, 2020, the transaction was closed and the Group received €1,576 million of proceeds from this transaction (€1,573.1 million on closing and €2.9 million of purchase price adjustment), for the sale of 49.99% of the share capital of FastFiber (€773.3 million) and for the sale of 49.99% of the existing intercompany loan (€799.8 million), which was simultaneously converted into mandatory convertible notes. The proceeds from the transaction were partly used to further deleverage the Group's debt. Furthermore, the Group recorded a receivable representing the net present value of an earnout of €375 million due December 2021. A second earnout is due in December 2026 subject to some performance conditions and the Company did not take into consideration this second earnout in the valuation of the purchase price and thus the capital gain recognized at closing of the transaction. Following the closing of the transaction, PT Portugal continues to control and fully consolidate FastFiber. The transaction resulted in the recognition of a non-controlling interest of €4.0 million and a gain of €1,111.5 million in equity.

FastFiber sells wholesale services to all operators at the same financial terms. MEO sells technical services to FastFiber for the construction, the subscriber connection and the maintenance of its fibre network.

4.2.3. Other significant events completed for the nine months ended September 30, 2021

4.2.3.1. Portugal pre-retirement program

In connection with an ongoing transformation process of the Group in Portugal, in a severe context resulting not only from the COVID-19 pandemic but also from a hostile and troubled regulatory environment, some of the Group companies in Portugal have launched a voluntary employee reduction program in March 2021. This program is aimed at employees of 50 years old or more and those that decide to enroll in the program, subject to the companies' acceptance, have their employment agreements terminated and will be entitled to receive a monthly fixed compensation up to retirement age corresponding to a percentage of their previous remuneration. The deadline for employees to enroll in the program has finished in the second quarter and the selection process of the employees allowed to terminate their employment agreements under this pre-retirement scheme was concluded during the third quarter of 2021. As of September 30, 2021, management considered that the conditions for recording a liability were met under IAS 19 Employee benefits and thus a liability was recognised in the caption "provisions" in the statement of financial position and in the caption "other (expense) and income" of the nine-months income statement for an amount of €348.2 million, relating to approximately 1,150 employees and corresponding primarily to the present value of salaries payable up to retirement age to the employees that agreed to terminate their employment agreements under pre-retirement schemes. In addition, during the nine months ended September 30, 2021, a provision related to termination payments payable to employees was recorded for an amount of €23.3 million.

4.2.3.2. Purchase of certain minority interests in Teads

In 2017, Altice International entered into certain arrangements pursuant to which it had the option to purchase, and the managers of Teads had the option to sell, certain minority interest in Teads (via indirect holding companies) with an exercise price based on a pre-determined formula. The financial liability relating to the put options based on the discounted cash flows valuation and the financial asset relating to the call options based on the Black and Scholes model were recognized in the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 30, 2017 until the unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements as of and for the three and six-month periods ended June 30, 2021.

Following the exercise of the put options by certain Teads managers by the end of September 30, 2021, the financial liability was reclassified in the caption "trade and other payables" of the statement of financial position for an amount of ϵ 140.0 million and the call option related to the Teads managers that have exercised their put options was reversed in the consolidated statement of income for an amount of ϵ 121.7 million. As of September 30, 2021, the remaining amount of the financial liability related to the put options was ϵ 69.9 million and the remaining amount of the call options was ϵ 47.1 million. Please refer to section 12.3.5 related to the purchase of the minority interests in Teads.

4.2.3.3. Drawing and repayment of Altice Financing Revolving Credit Facility

On January 13, 2021, the Group drew down €125.0 million of the Altice Financing Revolving Credit Facility. Subsequently, on March 15, 2021 and March 31, 2021, the Group repaid €100.0 million and €25.0 million respectively of the Altice Financing Revolving Credit Facility.

On April 8, 2021, the Group drew down €50.0 million of the Altice Financing Revolving Credit Facility. Subsequently, on May 10, 2021, the Group repaid €50.0 million of the Altice Financing Revolving Credit Facility.

On July 13, 2021, July 14, 2021 and August 5, 2021, the Group drew down €95.7 million, €14.3 million and €135 million respectively of the Altice Financing Revolving Credit Facility. Subsequently, on August 13, 2021 and August 19, 2021, the Group repaid €110.0 million and €135 million respectively of the Altice Financing Revolving Credit Facility.

4.2.3.4. Altice Financing refinancing

On August 12, 2021, Altice Financing issued \$1,925 million aggregate principal amount of 5.75% Senior Secured Notes due August 15, 2029 and €700 million aggregate principal amount of 4.25% Senior Secured Notes due August 15, 2029. The proceeds were mainly used to refinance in full the outstanding Altice Financing 2026 7.500% Senior Secured Notes (the "Altice Financing 2026 Notes").

4.2.4. Other significant events completed for the nine months ended September 30, 2020

4.2.4.1. Redemption of notes

The Group undertook the following redemptions of notes since January 1, 2020:

- On January 13, 2020, Altice Finco S.A. ("Altice Finco") redeemed in full the then outstanding Altice Finco 2023 Notes, in an aggregate principal amount of €250 million, in accordance with the indenture governing the Altice Finco 2023 Notes;
- On February 10, 2020, Altice Finco redeemed in full the then outstanding Altice Finco 2024 Notes, in an
 aggregate principal amount of \$400 million, in accordance with the indenture governing the Altice Finco
 2024 Notes;
- On February 18, 2020, Altice Financing redeemed in full the then outstanding Altice Financing 2023 Notes, in an aggregate principal amount of €2,400 million equivalent, in accordance with the indenture governing the Altice Financing 2023 Notes; and
- On July 22, 2020, Altice Finco redeemed in full the outstanding 2025 Notes in an aggregate principal amount of \$385 million (€332.6 million equivalent). The call premium paid on July 22, 2020 related to the redemption amounted to \$14.7 million (€12.7 million equivalent).

In addition, over the period from June 4, 2020, until September 30, 2020, Altice Financing repurchased and cancelled \$156.7 million of the Altice Financing 2026 Notes.

4.2.4.2. Issuance of the Altice Financing 2028 Notes and Altice Financing 2025 Notes

On January 22, 2020, Altice Financing issued (i) \$1,200 million aggregate principal amount of 5.000% Senior Secured Notes due January 15, 2028, (ii) €1,100 million aggregate principal amount of 3.000% Senior Secured Notes due January 15, 2028 and (iii) €600 million aggregate principal amount of 2.250% Senior Secured Notes due January 15, 2025.

4.2.4.3. Amendment of 2014 Altice Financing Revolving Credit Facility

On February 20, 2020, all of the lenders under the 2014 Altice Financing Revolving Credit Facility Agreement agreed to amend the 2014 Altice Financing Revolving Credit Facility Agreement to extend the maturity date to February 20, 2025, reduce the margin and make certain other changes.

4.2.4.4. Altice Finco bridge facility

On March 3, 2020, Altice Finco entered into a term loan credit agreement providing for, among other things, a euro denominated term loan in an aggregate principal amount of €500 million (the "2020 Altice Finco Bridge Credit Facility"). The term loan bears interest at a rate per annum equal to the weighted average rate of two-month and three-month EURIBOR for the period between the funding date of the 2020 Altice Finco Bridge Credit Facility (March 5, 2020) and the maturity date of the 2020 Altice Finco Bridge Credit Facility (May 29, 2020), plus the applicable margin of 2.5% per annum. The proceeds from the term loan borrowed under the 2020 Altice Finco Bridge Credit Facility were used to fund in part the redemption of the 2025 Altice Luxembourg Senior Notes. On April 17, 2020, Altice Finco fully repaid the 2020 Altice Finco Bridge Credit Facility.

5. REVENUE

5.1. Group

For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, the Group generated total revenue of €3,153.0 million, a 6.6% increase compared to €2,956.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020.

The tables below elaborate on the Group's revenue by lines of activity in the various reportable segments in which the Group operates for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, and September 30, 2020, respectively:

For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 €m	Portugal	Israel	Dominican Republic	Teads	Others	Total
Fixed	493.7	412.8	70.3	-	-	976.8
Mobile	351.7	158.8	203.8	-	-	714.3
Residential service	845.4	571.6	274.1	-	-	1,691.1
Residential equipment	78.5	51.4	23.6	-	-	153.5
Total Residential	923.9	623.0	297.7	-	-	1,844.6
Business services	765.3	113.0	63.9	-	0.6	942.8
Media	-	-	-	371.7	-	371.7
Total standalone revenues	1,689.2	736.0	361.6	371.7	0.6	3,159.1
Intersegment elimination	(5.2)	-	-	(0.9)	-	(6.1)
Total consolidated	1,684.0	736.0	361.6	370.8	0.6	3,153.0

For the nine months ended September 30, 2020	Portugal	Israel	Dominican Republic	Teads	Others	Total
€m			_			
Fixed	461.6	431.2	70.7	-	-	963.5
Mobile	349.8	160.3	207.4	-	-	717.5
Residential service	811.4	591.5	278.1	-	-	1,681.0
Residential equipment	72.7	49.1	27.4	-	-	149.2
Total Residential	884.1	640.6	305.5	-	-	1,830.2
Business services	678.8	95.0	64.1	-	0.5	838.4
Media	-	-	-	290.7	-	290.7
Total standalone revenues	1,562.9	735.6	369.6	290.7	0.5	2,959.3
Intersegment elimination	(2.3)	-	-	(0.6)	-	(2.9)
Total consolidated	1,560.6	735.6	369.6	290.1	0.5	2,956.6

This increase in revenue was mainly the consequence of positive performances in residential equipment, business services and media and the consolidation of Unisono which has resulted in business services increase. Revenue was also negatively impacted by the unfavourable development of the foreign currency rate for the Dominican Peso. On a year to date basis, the Dominican Peso average exchange rate decreased by 8.6% compared to the Euro and the Israeli Shekel average exchange rate increased by 0.3% compared to the Euro.

5.2. Operating segments

Portugal: For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, Portugal generated revenue of €1,684.0 million, a 7.9% increase compared to €1,560.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020.

Revenue from Portugal's fixed residential service increased by 7.0% from €461.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 to €493.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021. The increase in revenues is explained by subscriber base growth over the recent quarters, a higher contribution from high-value convergent package fees, including migrations from customers being served by the DSL network to the fibre network and higher revenues from sports premium channels as a result of the billing suspension in mid March 2020.

Portugal's mobile residential service business reported a net revenue increase of 0.5% from €349.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, to €351.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021. This modest increase is the consequence of the increase in postpaid revenues, partially offset by migrations to both postpaid and convergent packages and lower roaming-out revenues, further impacted by the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Portugal reported a residential equipment revenue increase of 8.0% from $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{\ensuremath{6}}}\]$ reported a residential equipment revenue increase of 8.0% from $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{\ensuremath{6}}}\]$ reported a residential equipment revenue increase of 8.0% from $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{\ensuremath{6}}}\]$ reported a residential equipment revenue increase of 8.0% from $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{\ensuremath{6}}}\]$ reported a residential equipment revenue increase of 8.0% from $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{6}}\]$ reported a residential equipment revenue increase of 8.0% from $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{6}}\]$ reported a residential equipment revenue increase of 8.0% from $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{6}}\]$ reported a residential equipment revenue increase of 8.0% from $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{6}}\]$ reported a residential equipment revenue increase of 8.0% from $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{6}}\]$ reported a residential equipment revenue increase of 8.0% from $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{6}}\]$ reported a residential equipment revenue increase of 8.0% from $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{6}}\]$ reported a residential equipment revenue increase of 8.0% from $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{6}}\]$ reported a residential equipment revenue increase of 8.0% from $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{6}}\]$ reported a residential equipment revenue increase of 8.0% from $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{6}}\]$ reported a residential equipment revenue and $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{6}}\]$ reported in the second and third quarter of 2021.

Revenue from Portugal's business services increased by 12.7% from €678.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, to €765.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021. This increase is primarily explained by the consolidation of Unisono, higher equipment sales from Altice Labs, equipment sales of laptops to schools and handsets to corporates.

Israel: For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, Israel generated revenue of €736.0 million, a 0.1% increase compared to €735.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020. On a local currency basis, revenue decreased by 0.2%. Fixed residential service revenue decreased by 4.6%, which was mainly driven by fierce competition in the fixed market. Mobile residential service revenue decreased by 1.3% on a local currency basis due to price competition. Israel's residential equipment revenue increased by 4.3% and business services revenue increased by 18.7%, mainly due to the increase in B2B equipment sales.

Dominican Republic: For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, the Dominican Republic generated total revenue of €361.6 million, a 2.2% decrease compared to €369.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020. On a local currency basis, revenue increased by 6.2%. As such, the decrease in reported revenue was mainly driven by the unfavourable development of the foreign currency rate for the Dominican Peso.

On a local currency basis, fixed residential service revenue increased by 8.0% due to subscriber base growth and stable to higher ARPU. Mobile residential service revenue grew by 6.7% due to an increase in postpaid subscriber base as a

result of subscriber base growth and an increased roaming contribution year over year. The Dominican Republic's residential equipment revenue decreased by 6.5% and business services revenue grew by 8.4%, largely due to an increase in revenues from fixed television as a result of the revenue generated for transmission of educational content as well as internet driven by customers increased demand for higher capacity plans and visitor roaming thanks to higher data traffic regarding US operators as tourism dynamics recovered versus the same period in the prior year.

Teads: For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, Teads generated revenue of €370.8 million, compared to €290.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020. The increase in revenue was driven by a continued focus on larger advertisers and their agencies with the signing of new joint business partnerships ("JBPs") as well as new product and technology updates. In July 2021, Teads announced a significant partnership with Omnicom Media Group providing a first-to-market tool aimed at helping marketers easily activate media targeting strategies in cookieless environments, while preserving consumer privacy.

6. ADJUSTED EBITDA

6.1. Group

For the nine months ended	Portugal	Israel	Dominican	Teads	Others	Inter-	Total
September 30, 2021			Republic			segment	
€m						elimination	
Revenues	1,689.2	736.0	361.6	371.7	0.6	(6.1)	3,153.0
Purchasing and subcontracting costs	(482.6)	(261.9)	(79.2)	-	(0.1)	2.7	(821.1)
Other operating expenses	(268.1)	(147.0)	(58.0)	(163.7)	(1.9)	0.4	(638.3)
Staff costs and employee benefit	(243.8)	(59.5)	(22.1)	(84.7)	(0.2)	0.1	(410.2)
expenses	(243.6)	(39.3)	(22.1)	(64.7)	(0.2)	0.1	(410.2)
Total	694.7	267.6	202.3	123.3	(1.6)	(2.9)	1,283.4
Share-based expense	0.4	0.2	0.3	-	-	-	0.9
Rental expense operating lease ¹	(56.0)	(24.7)	(16.3)	(3.5)	-	-	(100.5)
Adjusted EBITDA	639.1	243.1	186.3	119.8	(1.6)	(2.9)	1,183.8
Depreciation, amortisation and	(531.9)	(245.8)	(94.3)	(18.7)			(890.7)
impairment	(331.9)	(243.6)	(94.3)	(10.7)	-	-	(090.7)
Share-based expense	(0.4)	(0.2)	(0.3)	-	-	-	(0.9)
Other expenses and income	(279.4)	(6.5)	1.5	(73.0)	(17.8)	0.1	(375.1)
Rental expense operating lease ¹	56.0	24.7	16.3	3.5	=	=	100.5
Operating profit/(loss)	(116.6)	15.3	109.5	31.6	(19.4)	(2.8)	17.6

For the nine months ended September 30, 2020 €m	Portugal	Israel	Dominican Republic	Teads	Others	Inter- segment elimination	Total
Revenues	1,562.9	735.6	369.6	290.7	0.5	(2.9)	2,956.4
Purchasing and subcontracting costs	(399.8)	(236.4)	(90.0)	-	-	1.6	(724.6)
Other operating expenses	(275.3)	(152.6)	(58.5)	(148.0)	(2.1)	0.9	(635.6)
Staff costs and employee benefit expenses	(206.2)	(55.2)	(22.2)	(65.8)	-	-	(349.4)
Total	681.6	291.4	198.9	76.9	(1.6)	(0.4)	1,246.8
Share-based expense	0.4	-	0.4	-	` -	` -	0.8
Rental expense operating lease ¹	(53.8)	(24.2)	(16.4)	(3.9)	-	-	(98.3)
Adjusted EBITDA	628.2	267.2	182.9	73.0	(1.6)	(0.4)	1,149.3
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment	(543.7)	(248.0)	(96.8)	(16.8)	-	-	(905.3)
Share-based expense	(0.4)	-	(0.4)	_	_	_	(0.8)
Other expenses and income	77.0	(8.7)	(0.3)	(0.4)	(1.5)	-	66.1
Rental expense operating lease ¹	53.8	24.2	16.4	3.9	` -	-	98.3
Operating profit/(loss)	214.9	34.7	101.8	59.7	(3.1)	(0.4)	407.6

This line corresponds to the operating lease expenses which impacts are included in Adjusted EBITDA following the definition stated in note 4.2.3 to the unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements as of and for the three and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2021.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, the Group's Adjusted EBITDA amounted to €1,183.8 million, an increase of 3.0% compared to €1,149.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020. This increase is mainly attributed to the top-line growth of 6.7%, which is partially offset by a higher percentage increase in purchasing and subcontracting costs and staff costs and employee benefit expenses compared to total revenue.

6.2. Operating segments

Portugal: For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 the Adjusted EBITDA in Portugal was €639.1 million, an increase of 1.7% from €628.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020. This increase can be attributed to a higher percentage increase in revenue (please see section 5.2) and a decrease of 2.6% in other operating expenses. The decrease in other operating expenses is primarily explained by lower sales and marketing costs for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, reflecting lower commercial activity due to the COVID-19 pandemic impacts and lower call centre expenses reflecting the internalization of some of these operations in Intelcia, partially offset by higher provisions for bad debt and higher general and administration expenses compared to pre-pandemic levels. The increase in revenue is partially offset by increase in purchasing and subcontracting costs and staff costs and employee benefit expenses compared to total revenue. The increase in purchasing and contracting costs is mainly related to higher cost of goods sold and higher raw materials consumption as a consequence of the increase in residential equipment and B2B equipment sales from Altice Labs. The increase in staff costs reflects primarily the effect of the consolidation of Intelcia and Unisono in the unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements as of and for the three and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2021, since March 2020.

Israel: For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, the Adjusted EBITDA in Israel was €243.1 million, a decrease of 8.8% compared to €267.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020. Adjusted EBITDA on a local currency basis decreased by 9.0% compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2020. The decrease in Adjusted EBITDA is mainly a consequence of the residential service revenue decline (mobile and fixed), largely as a result of pricing pressure in the fixed segment.

Dominican Republic: For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, the Adjusted EBITDA in the Dominican Republic increased by 1.9% from €182.9 million for nine months ended September 30, 2020 to €186.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 (an increase of 10.6% on a local currency basis). On a local currency basis, the increase in Adjusted EBITDA is largely attributable to the residential service revenue increase and a result of the residential customer base increase and stabilizing ARPU, for fixed and mobile.

Teads: For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, the Adjusted EBITDA for Teads amounted to €119.8 million, compared to €73.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, an increase of 64.2%. The increase in Adjusted EBITDA year over year is mainly explained by a growth in revenue of 27.8% and previous investments made in technology automation and in machine learning to improve the effectiveness of algorithms.

7. OPERATING PROFIT OF THE GROUP

7.1. Depreciation, amortization and impairment

For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, depreciation, amortization and impairment totalled €890.7 million, a slight decrease of 1.6% compared to €905.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020.

7.2. Other expenses and income

For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, the Group's other expenses totalled €375.1 million compared to other income of €66.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020. A detailed breakdown of other expenses and income is provided below:

Other expenses and income (£m)	For the nine months ended September 30, 2021	For the nine months ended September 30, 2020
Restructuring costs (including termination employee benefit costs)	371.5	4.2
Disputes and litigation	(5.1)	11.7
Net gain on sale of interest in assets and associates	(95.2)	(106.7)
Deal fees	7.3	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Management fees	4.2	(8.3)
Other, net	92.4	33.0
Other expenses and (income)	375.1	(66.1)

7.2.1. Restructuring costs (including termination employee benefit costs)

For the nine-month period ended September 30, 2021, termination employee benefit costs and a provision for termination for a total amount of \in 348.2 million were recognized as part of the pre-retirement program launched in March 2021, for which \in 12.4 million were recognized during the third quarter 2021 (please refer to section 4.2.3.1). In addition, during the nine-month period ended September 30, 2021, a provision related to termination payments payable to employees was recorded for an amount of \in 23.3 million.

7.2.2. Net gain on sale of interests in assets and associates

For the nine-month period ended September 30, 2021, this related mainly to the capital gain of \in 88.5 million from the 2021 Portuguese tower transaction (please refer to section 4.2.1.2) and the capital gain of \in 6.1 million from the sale of a 50% stake in Janela Digital in Portugal (the cash proceeds for the sale were \in 8.5 million). For the nine-month period ended September 30, 2020, this related mainly to the capital gain of \in 97.7 million from the sale of Portugal's 25% equity stake in Belmont (please refer to section 4.2.2.1).

7.2.3. Deal fees

The deal fees for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2021 mainly include the fees related to the IPO of Teads, that was postponed due to unsatisfactory equity market conditions as compared to the growth prospects of Teads.

7.2.4. Other, net

For the nine-month period ended September 30, 2021, this mainly includes an expense of €66.0 million related to a one-time fee for Pierre Chappaz and Bertrand Quesada (founders of Teads) granted in July 2021. This amount will be paid by Teads in May 2022 and October 2022 and is presented in the statement of financial position in the captions "Trade and other payables" and "Other non-current liabilities" for an amount of €35.6 million and €30.4 million respectively.

7.2.5. Operating profit

As a result of the above-mentioned factors, the Group recorded an operating profit of €17.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, compared to an operating profit of €407.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020.

8. RESULT FOR THE GROUP – ITEMS BELOW OPERATING EXPENSES

8.1. Finance costs (net)

Net finance costs amounted to €258.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 compared to finance costs of €47.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020. A detailed breakdown of net finance costs is provided below:

Net finance (costs)/income	For the nine months ended	For the nine months ended
(€m)	September 30, 2021	September 30, 2020
Interest relative to gross financial debt	(297.2)	(432.1)
Realized and unrealized (losses) / gains on derivative instruments linked to	153.2	(51.1)
financial debt	155.2	(51.1)
Interest on lease liabilities	(51.3)	(53.2)
Net foreign exchange losses	-	(46.4)
Impairment of financial assets	(16.5)	0.2
Other	(143.8)	(23.6)
Other financial expenses	(211.6)	(123.0)
Interest income	139.9	119.8
Net foreign exchange gains	18.5	-
Other financial income	28.6	-
Finance income	187.0	119.8
Net result on extinguishment and remeasurement of financial liabilities	(89.5)	439.0
Net finance income/(costs)	(258.1)	(47.4)

8.1.1. Interest relative to gross financial debt

For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, the Group's interest relative to gross financial debt totalled €297.2 million, a 31.2% decrease compared to €432.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020. The decrease is mainly explained by lower interest costs and a reduction in permanent debt related to various financing activities in 2020 and 2021.

8.1.2. Realized and unrealized (losses) gains on derivative instruments

For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, the Group's realized and unrealized gain on derivative instruments totalled €153.2 million compared to a realized and unrealized loss on derivative instruments of €51.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020. This increase is mainly driven by foreign currency variations and floating interest rate fluctuations related to the Group's derivative financial instruments in Altice Financing.

8.1.3. Other financial expenses

For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, the Group's other financial expenses totalled €211.6 million compared to €123.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020. This variation is mainly related to the Teads call option reversal of €120.0 million and the decrease in the foreign exchange loss due to the revaluation of U.S. Dollar denominated intercompany debt in the Dominican Republic as at September 30, 2021.

8.1.4. Finance income

For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, the Group's other financial income totaled €187.0 million compared to €119.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020. The increase in other financial income is mostly explained by an increase of interest income on interest bearing loans receivable from other Altice group companies and the accrued interest income on the €375 million earn out for FastFiber (please see section 4.2.2.2).

8.1.5. Net result on extinguishment of a financial liability

For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, the Group's net loss on extinguishment of a financial liability amounted to €89.5, compared to a net gain on extinguishment of a financial liability of €439.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020. For the nine months ended September 2021, the loss on extinguishment of financial liability amounts to €89.5 million as a result of the redemption of the Altice Financing 2026 Notes (please refer to section 4.2.3.4). The gain on extinguishment of financial liability for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, was the result of the derecognition of the net present value of future interest payments for the Altice Luxembourg mandatory convertible note and redemptions of a portion of the Group's debt 2020. Please refer to note 8.7.6 in the unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements as of and for the three and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2021.

8.2. Share of earnings/(losses) of associates

For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, the Group's share of losses of associates totalled €4.4 million compared to a gain of €2.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020.

8.3. Income tax benefit/(expense)

The Group recorded an income tax benefit of €14.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, reflecting an effective tax rate of 6% compared to an income tax benefit of €9.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020.

8.4. Profit/(Loss) from continuing operations

For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, the loss from continuing operations totalled €230.7 million compared to a profit after tax of €352.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020. The reasons for this decrease are disclosed in the sections above.

9. CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

9.1. General

The Group has made substantial investments and will continue to make capital expenditures in the geographies in which it operates to expand its footprint and enhance its product and service offerings. The Group expects to finance principal investments described below, to the extent they have not been completed, with cash flow from its operations.

The table below elaborates on the Group's capital expenditures for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, for each of the Group's operating segments:

For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 €m	Portugal	Israel ¹	Dominican Republic	Teads	Others	Eliminations	Total
Capital expenditure – accrued	338.1	249.6	80.6	5.6	-	(1.5)	672.4
Capital expenditure - working capital items	(9.2)	(52.5)	(4.2)	-	-	(0.6)	(66.5)
Payments to acquire tangible and intangible assets and contract costs	328.9	197.1	76.4	5.6	-	(2.1)	605.9

The capital expenditure - accrued for Israel includes an amount of €61.9 million related to the indefeasible right of use ("IRU") signed with IBC (please refer to section 4.2.1.1).

For the nine months ended September 30, 2020 €m	Portugal	Israel	Dominican Republic	Teads	Others	Eliminations	Total
Capital expenditure - accrued	338.4	196.1	77.1	5.3	-	(0.4)	616.5
Capital expenditure - working capital items	7.9	(13.4)	(5.2)	-	-	1.0	(9.7)
Payments to acquire tangible and intangible assets and contract costs	346.3	182.7	71.9	5.3	-	0.6	606.8

9.2. Operating segments

Portugal: For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, Portugal's total capital expenditures were €328.9 million, a 5.0% decrease compared to €346.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020. Accrued capital expenditures were stable for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2020. Working capital related items have decreased by €17.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, in relation to September 30, 2020, due to payment phasing of capital expenditures.

Israel: For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, the total capital expenditures were €197.1 million, compared to €182.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020. On a local currency basis, capital expenditures increased in addition by 7.6%, which was mainly driven by fixed customer and installation capital expenditure, in preparation of the launch of the fibre commercial offers, fixed network investments due to new deployment and capital expenditures related to the deployment of 5G. Accrued capital expenditure includes an amount of €61.9 million related to the indefeasible right of use ("IRU") signed with IBC (please refer to section 4.2.1.1).

Dominican Republic: For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, the total capital expenditures were €76.4 million compared to €71.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020. On a local currency basis, the capital expenditures increased by 15.4%, mainly driven by an increase in customer premise equipment due increased commercial activity and new IT platforms.

Teads: In general, Teads has limited capital expenditures due to the nature of its business.

10. LIQUIDITY, CAPITAL RESOURCES AND CASH FLOW

10.1. Liquidity and capital resources

The Group's principal sources of liquidity are (i) operating cash flow generated by the Group's subsidiaries and (ii) various revolving credit facilities and guarantee facilities that are available to the Group, for any requirements not covered by the operating cash flow generated.

On July 18, 2021, €144.8 million of the Altice Financing Revolving Credit Facility matured. Consequently, as of September 30, 2021, Altice International's restricted group had an aggregate of €393.2 million (equivalent) available borrowings under the Guarantee Facility Agreements, the 2014 Altice Financing Revolving Credit Facility Agreement and the 2015 Altice Financing Revolving Credit Facility Agreement, of which nil was drawn as of September 30, 2021.

The Group expects to use these sources of liquidity to fund operating expenses, working capital requirements, capital expenditures, debt service requirements and other liquidity requirements that may arise from time to time. The Group's ability to generate cash from the Group's operations will depend on the Group's future operating performance, which is in turn dependent, to some extent, on general economic, financial, competitive, market, regulatory and other factors, many of which are beyond the Group's control. As the Group's debt matures in later years, the Group anticipates that it will seek to refinance or otherwise extend the Group's debt maturities from time to time. See below an overview of the Group's borrowings and loans from lenders:

	Amount in millions (local currency)	Actual	Pro Forma	Coupon / Margin	Maturity
Senior Secured Notes	EUR 600	600	600	2.250%	2025
Senior Secured Notes	EUR 1,100	1,100	1,100	3.000%	2028
Senior Secured Notes	USD 1,200	1,037	1,037	5.000%	2028
Senior Secured Notes	EUR 805	700	805	4.250%	2029
Senior Secured Notes	USD 2,050	1,664	1,772	5.750%	2029
Term Loan	USD 871	753	753	L+2.75%	2025
Term Loan	USD 866	749	749	L+2.75%	2026
Term Loan	EUR 289	289	289	E+2.75%	2026
Drawn RCF	-	-	-	E+3.00%	2025
Finance lease liabilities and other debt	-	25	25	-	-
Swap Adjustment	-	138	137	-	-
Secured Debt		7,055	7,266		
Senior Notes	EUR 675	675	675	4.75%	2028
Gross Debt		7,730	7,941		
Total cash		(488)	(866)		
Net Debt		7,242	7,075		
Undrawn RCF			418		
WACD			3.6%		

The following tables present the maturity profile of the Group's debentures and loans from financial institutions as of September 30, 2021.

Maturity of loans and debentures	Less than	One year	As of	As of
(€m)	one year	or more	September 30, 2021	December 31, 2020
Altice Financing Debentures	-	5,072.2	5,072.2	4,675.2
Altice Finco Debentures	-	673.7	673.7	673.5
Altice Financing Loans from Financial Institutions ¹	18.6	1,765.4	1,784.0	1,716.1
Total	18.6	7,511.3	7,529.9	7,064.8

10.2. Cash flow

The following table presents primary components of the Group's cash flows (net) for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and September 30, 2020 respectively. Please refer to the consolidated statement of cash flows in the unaudited

¹ Includes Altice Financing Revolving Credit Facilities and excludes the Altice Financing Guarantee Facilities

condensed interim consolidated financial statements as of and for the three and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2021, for additional details.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows	Nine months ended September 30, 2021	Nine months ended September 30, 2020
(€m)	•	•
Profit/(loss) for the period	(230.7)	352.8
Net cash provided by operating activities	993.1	1,120.4
Net cash used in investing activities	(574.2)	(1,399.6)
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities	(294.2)	166.7
Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash held in foreign currencies	9.1	(16.4)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents	133.8	(128.9)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period	354.0	395.5
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period	487.8	266.6

The Group recorded a net increase of \in 133.8 million in cash and cash equivalents for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, compared to a net decrease of \in 128.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020.

10.2.1. Net cash provided by operating activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was \in 993.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, compared to \in 1,120.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020. The decrease in net cash provided by operating activities, on a recurring business basis, is largely explained by an increase in income tax paid from \in 23.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, to \in 97.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021.

10.2.2. Net cash used in investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities was €574.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, compared to net cash used by investing activities of €1,399.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, the cash used for investing activities consisted mainly of ϵ 05.9 million of payments to acquire tangible, intangible assets and contract costs, proceeds related to the 2021 Portuguese tower transaction for an amount of ϵ 215.2 million (please refer to section 4.2.1.2), payment for the acquisition of Unisono of ϵ 123.9 million (please refer to section 4.2.1.3) and ϵ 44.6 million payment related to the acquisition of 23.3% stake in IBC in Israel (refer to section 4.2.1.1).

For the nine months ended September 30, 2020, the cash used in investing activities related to ϵ 606.8 million of payments to acquire tangible, intangible assets and contract costs, and a payment of ϵ 1,533.2 million upstreamed by the Group to Altice Luxembourg which was offset by ϵ 201.0 million proceeds for the sale of Portugal's 25% equity stake in Belmont and advances received of ϵ 521.1 million from Altice CVC Lux S.à r.l. in the nine-month period ended September 30, 2020.

10.2.3 Net cash used in financing activities

Net cash used in financing activities was €294.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, compared to net cash received from financing activities of €166.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, the cash used in financing activities consisted mainly of €305.0 million of interest paid on long term gross debt, call premium related to the redemption of the Altice Financing 2026 Notes (please see section 4.3.3.4) and lease payments of €115.7 million.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2020, the increase in net cash provided by financing activities can be attributed to the proceeds related to the sale of the 49.99% interest in FastFiber to Morgan Stanley Infrastructure Partners of €1,576.0 million. This increase in cash provided by financing activities was partially offset by higher cash outflows related to refinancing activities and other financing activities. The issuance and redemptions of debt resulted in a net outflow of cash of €817.9 million for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2020.

11. KEY OPERATING MEASURES

The Group uses several key operating measures, such as number of fibre homes passed, fibre unique customers, fixed B2C unique customers, prepaid and postpaid mobile B2C subscribers and mobile B2C subscribers, to track the financial and operating performance of its business. None of these terms are measures of financial performance under IFRS, nor have these measures been audited or reviewed by an auditor, consultant or expert. These measures are derived from the Group's internal operating and financial systems. As defined by the Company's management, these terms may not be directly comparable to similar terms used by competitors or other companies.

Nine months ended September 30, 2021					
000's unless stated otherwise	Portugal	Israel	Dom. Rep.	Altice International	
Fibre homes passed	5,910	2,228	827	8,965	
Total fibre customers	1,204	1,028	206	2,438	
Total B2C fixed customers	1,639	1,028	364	3,030	
Total postpaid customers	3,246	1,186	636	5,069	
Total prepaid customers	2,900	208	2,241	5,349	
Total mobile B2C customers	6,147	1,394	2,877	10,418	

Notes to the Key Operating Measures:

- Portugal fibre homes passed figures include homes where MEO has access through wholesale fibre operators (c. 0.6 million as of September 30, 2021)
- Fibre unique customers represents the number of individual end users who have subscribed for one or more of the Group's fibre / cable-based services (including pay television, broadband or telephony), without regard to how many services to which the end user subscribed. It is calculated on a unique premise basis. For Israel, it refers to the total number of unique customer relationships, including both B2C and B2B.
- Mobile subscribers are equal to the net number of lines or SIM cards that have been activated on the Group's mobile networks and excludes M2M

12. OTHER DISCLOSURES

12.1 Critical accounting policies, judgments and estimates

For details regarding the Group's critical accounting policies, judgments and estimates, please refer to note 2 of the unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements as of and for the three and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2021.

12.2 Contractual obligations and commercial commitments

For details regarding the Group's contractual obligations and commercial commitments, please refer to note 12 of the unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements as of and for the three and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2021.

12.3 Post-balance sheet date events

12.3.1 Altice Financing issuance of Senior Secured Notes

On September 19, 2021, the Company announced that Altice Financing has entered into a purchase agreement with certain investors pursuant to which it will issue €211 million (equivalent) of euro and dollar denominated senior secured notes in a private transaction by tapping the existing senior secured notes maturing in August 2029. The transaction was closed on October 1, 2021.

12.3.2 Loan to Altice UK S.à r.l.

On October 4, 2021, the Company granted a loan of €250 million (equivalent) to Altice UK S.à r.l.

12.3.3 5G spectrum auction in Dominican Republic

On December 28, 2020, INDOTEL presented the general terms and conditions of the International Public Auction for Spectrum in the 700MHz and 3.3-3.6 GHz bands. On October 11, 2021, offers were made public. The formal resolution of assignment was issued and made public on October 28, 2021. The price due by Altice Dominicana S.A for the spectrum assigned within the 3.4-3.5 GHz band totals \$21 million. The total amount of \$21 million is to be paid in four annual equal instalments, starting in the first quarter of 2022.

12.3.4 5G spectrum auction in Portugal

On October 27, 2021, the 5G spectrum auction in Portugal concluded. Altice Portugal obtained 104MHz as part of the allocation of 5G frequencies, spread throughout the 700 MHz, 900 MHz and 3.6 GHz bands. The price due by Altice Portugal for the 104MHz of spectrum secured as part of the auction totals ϵ 125 million. Of this total amount, ϵ 62.5 million is to be paid in the fourth quarter of 2021 and the remaining ϵ 62.5 million is to be paid in seven annual equal instalments, starting in the fourth quarter of 2022.

12.3.5 Purchase of the minority interests in Teads

In October and November 2021, in addition to the transaction described in section 3.3.2, Pierre Chappaz has exercised his put options, the Company has exercised some call options and has also purchased the remaining minority interests from the Teads managers. As a result of these transactions, the Company made a total payment of €208.3 million and now owns 100% of Teads.

12.3.6 Portuguese tower transaction

In addition to the tower transaction closed on September 30, 2021 (please refer to section 3.1.2), on November 8, 2021, PT Portugal has exercised its right to sell another tower business unit consisting of 102 remaining sites portfolio to be disposed to Cellnex Telecom, S.A. for an implied enterprise value of approximately €71 million. The closing of this transaction is expected to occur in the first quarter of 2022.

13. GLOSSARY

Revenue

Revenue consists of income generated from the delivery of fixed-based services to our B2C customers, mobile services to our B2C customers, equipment sales to residential customers, fixed, mobile and wholesale service and other revenues to our B2B customers and media service revenues. Revenue is recognized at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable net of value added tax, returns, rebates and discounts and after eliminating intercompany sales within the Group.

Residential-Fixed services: Revenue from residential fixed-based services consists of revenue from our B2C customers for pay TV services, including related services such as VoD, broadband internet, fixed-line telephony and ISP services. This primarily includes (i) recurring subscription revenue for pay TV services, broadband internet and fixed-line telephony (which are recognized in revenue on a straight-line basis over the subscription period), (ii) variable usage fees from VoD and fixed-line telephony calls (which are recognized in revenue when the service is rendered), (iii) installation fees (which are recognized in revenue when the service is rendered if consideration received is lower than the direct costs to acquire the contractual relationship) and (iv) interconnection revenue received for calls that terminate on our cable network.

Residential-Mobile services: Revenue from residential mobile services from our B2C customers primarily consists of (i) recurring subscription revenue for our postpaid mobile services (which are recognized in revenue on a straight-line

basis over the subscription period), (ii) revenue from purchases of our prepaid mobile services (which are recognized in revenue when the service is rendered), (iii) variable usage fees for mobile telephony calls (which are recognized in revenue when the service is rendered) and (iv) interconnection revenue received for calls that terminate on our mobile network.

Residential equipment: Revenue from the sale of handsets and fixed equipment (which are recognized on the date of transfer of ownership).

Business services: Revenue from business services primarily consists of (i) revenue from the same services as the above fixed and mobile services and residential equipment, but for the business sector, (ii) revenue from wholesale services derived from renting our network infrastructure, including IRUs and bandwidth capacity on our network, to other telecommunications operators, including MVNOs as well as related maintenance services and (iii) revenue from other services consisting of: (a) data center activities, (b) content production and distribution, (c) advertising, (d) customer services, (e) technical services, (f) construction and (g) other activities that are not related to our core fixed or mobile businesses.

Media services: Revenue from media services consists of advertisement revenue in Teads.

Intersegment Eliminations: Intersegment costs, which primarily relate to services rendered by certain centralized Group functions (such content production and customer service) to the reportable segments of the Group, are eliminated in consolidation.

Purchasing and subcontracting costs

Purchasing and subcontracting costs consist of direct costs associated with the delivery of fixed-based services to the Group's B2C and B2B customers, mobile services to its B2C and B2B customers, wholesale and other services. Purchasing and subcontracting costs consist of the following subcategories:

Fixed-based services: Purchasing and subcontracting costs associated with fixed-based services consist of all direct costs related to the (i) procurement of non-exclusive television content, royalties and licenses to broadcast, (ii) transmission of data services and (iii) interconnection costs related to fixed-line telephony. In addition, it includes costs incurred in providing VoD or other interactive services to subscribers and cost of goods sold of customer premises equipment (such as modems, set-top boxes and decoders).

Mobile services: Purchasing and subcontracting costs associated with mobile services consist primarily of mobile interconnection fees, including roaming charges and cost of goods sold of mobile handsets.

Wholesale: Purchasing and subcontracting costs associated with wholesale primarily consist of costs associated with delivering wholesale services to other operators.

Others: Other purchasing and subcontracting costs consist of (i) cost of renting space for data centers (subject to certain exceptions), (ii) utility costs related to the operation of data centers (such as power and water supply costs), (iii) in relation to the content activity of the Group, technical costs associated with the delivery of content, such as satellite rental costs, (iv) in our technical services business, the cost of raw materials used in the technical activities related to the construction and maintenance of the network, cables for customer connections, etc., and sub-contractor fees associated with the performance of basic field work and the supervision of such sub-contractors and (v) direct costs related to our call center operations, such as service expenses, telecom consumption subscriptions and energy costs, in our customer services functions.

Intersegment Eliminations: Intersegment costs, which primarily relate to services rendered by certain centralized Group functions (such content production and customer service) to the reportable segments of the Group, are eliminated in consolidation.

Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses mainly consist of the following subcategories:

Customer service costs: Customer service costs include all costs related to billing systems, bank commissions, external costs associated with operating call centers, allowances for bad customer debt and recovery costs associated therewith.

Technical and maintenance: Technical and maintenance costs include all costs related to infrastructure rental not under the scope of IFRS 16 Leases, equipment, equipment repair, costs of external subcontractors, maintenance of backbone equipment and data center equipment, maintenance and upkeep of the fixed-based and mobile networks, costs of utilities to run network equipment and those costs related to customer installations that are not capitalized (such as service visits, disconnection and reconnection costs).

Business taxes: Business taxes include all costs related to payroll and professional taxes or fees.

General and administrative expenses: General and administrative expenses consist of office maintenance, professional and legal advice, recruitment and placement, welfare and other administrative expenses.

Other sales and marketing expenses: Other sales and marketing expenses consist of advertising and sales promotion expenses, office rent and maintenance not in the scope of IFRS 16 *Leases*, commissions for marketers, external sales and storage and other expenses related to sales and marketing efforts.

Staff costs and employee benefits

Staff costs and employee benefits are comprised of all costs related to wages and salaries, bonuses, social security, pension contributions and other outlays paid to Group employees.

Depreciation, amortization and impairment

Depreciation, amortization and impairment includes depreciation of tangible assets related to production, sales and administrative functions, the amortization of intangible assets and contract costs. Impairment losses include the write-off of any goodwill or tangible and intangible assets that have been recognized on the acquisition of assets based upon a re-evaluation of the cash generating capacity of such assets compared to the initial valuation thereof.

Other expenses and income

Other expenses and income include any one-off or non-recurring income or expenses incurred during the on-going financial year. This includes deal fees paid to external consultants for merger and acquisition activities, restructuring and other non-recurring costs related to those acquisitions or the business in general, any non-cash operating gains or losses realized on the disposal of tangible and intangible assets and management fees paid to related parties.

Interest relative to gross financial debt

Interest relative to gross financial debt includes interest expenses recognized on third party debt (excluding other long-term liabilities, short term liabilities and other finance leases) incurred by the Group.

Realized and unrealized gains on derivative instruments

Realized and unrealized gains on derivative instruments include variations in the fair value of financial derivative instruments.

Other financial expenses

Other financial expenses include other financial expenses not related to the third-party debt (excluding other long-term liabilities and short-term liabilities, other than lease liabilities under IFRS 16 *Leases*) incurred by the Group, net exchange rate losses and other financial expenses.

Financial income

Financial income consists of gains from the disposal of financial assets, net exchange rate gains, and other financial income.

Share of earnings of associates

Share of earnings of associates consists of the net result arising from activities that are accounted for using the equity method in the consolidation perimeter of the Group.

Income tax expenses

Income tax expenses are comprised of current tax and deferred tax. Taxes on income are recognized in the statement of income except when the underlying transaction is recognized in other comprehensive income, at which point the associated tax effect is also recognized under other comprehensive income or in equity.

Adjusted EBITDA

Following the application of IFRS 16 *Leases*, Adjusted EBITDA is defined as operating profit before depreciation, amortization and impairment, other expenses and income (capital gains, non-recurring litigation, restructuring costs), share-based expenses and after operating lease expenses (i.e., straight-line recognition of the rent expense over the lease term as performed under IAS 17 *Leases for operating leases*) allowing comparability for each of the periods presented.

Adjusted EBITDA is unaudited and is not required by or presented in accordance with IFRS or any other generally accepted accounting standards. We believe that this measure is useful to readers of the historical consolidated financial information as it provides them with a measure of the operating results which excludes certain items we consider outside of our recurring operating activities or that are non-cash, making trends more easily observable and providing information regarding our operating results that allows investors to better identify trends in our financial performance. Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered as a substitute measure for net income or loss, operating profit, cash flow or other combined income or cash flow data prepared in accordance with IFRS and may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies. Further, this measure should not be considered as an alternative for operating profit as the effects of depreciation, amortization and impairment excluded from this measure do ultimately affect the operating results, which is also presented within the annual consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020, in accordance with IAS 1 (*Presentation of Financial Statements*).

Capital expenditures

The Group classifies its capital expenditures in the following categories.

Fixed-based services: the fixed business has fixed Capex requirements that are mainly discretionary (network, platforms, general), and variable capex requirements related to the connection of new customers and the purchase of Customer Premises Equipment (TV decoder, modem, etc.).

Mobile services: mobile Capex is mainly driven by investment in new mobile sites, upgrade to new mobile technology and licenses to operate; once engaged and operational, there are limited further Capex requirements.

Others: other Capex is mainly related to costs incurred in acquiring content rights.